

Home Search Collections Journals About Contact us My IOPscience

Dipolar fluids under external perturbations

This article has been downloaded from IOPscience. Please scroll down to see the full text article.

2005 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 17 R525

(http://iopscience.iop.org/0953-8984/17/15/R02)

View the table of contents for this issue, or go to the journal homepage for more

Download details: IP Address: 129.252.86.83 The article was downloaded on 27/05/2010 at 20:37

Please note that terms and conditions apply.

J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 17 (2005) R525-R550

TOPICAL REVIEW

Dipolar fluids under external perturbations

Sabine H L Klapp

Stranski-Laboratorium für Physikalische und Theoretische Chemie Sekretariat TC7, Technische Universität Berlin, Straße des 17. Juni 124, D-10623 Berlin, Germany

E-mail: sabine.klapp@fluids.tu-berlin.de

Received 3 March 2005 Published 1 April 2005 Online at stacks.iop.org/JPhysCM/17/R525

Abstract

We discuss recent developments and present new findings on the structural and phase properties of dipolar model fluids influenced by various external perturbations. We concentrate on systems of spherical particles with permanent (point) dipole moments. Starting from what is known about the threedimensional systems, particular emphasis is given to dipolar fluids in different confining situations involving both simple and complex (disordered) pore geometries. Further topics concern the effect of quenched positional disorder, the influence of external (electric or magnetic) fields, and the fluid-fluid phase behaviour of various dipolar mixtures. It is demonstrated that due to the translational-orientational coupling and due to the long range of dipolar interactions even simple perturbations such as hard walls can have a profound impact on the systems.

Contents

1.	Introduction	526	
2.	The unperturbed system	528	
	2.1. The impact of attractive interactions	532	
3.	Confinement by slit-pore geometries	532	
	3.1. Local and global ordering in strongly coupled confined fluids	533	
4.	Confinement by disordered porous media	535	
	4.1. Models and theoretical treatment	535	
	4.2. Properties of dipolar model fluids in disordered media	536	
5.	Positional disorder	537	
	5.1. Replica approach and the occurrence of global ferroelectric ordering	538	
6.	Field-induced structural effects	539	
	6.1. Integral equations for dipolar fluids with fluctuating orientational order	541	
7.	Size heterogeneities	542	
	7.1. Phase behaviour of binary dipolar mixtures	543	
0953-8984/05/150525+26\$30.00 © 2005 IOP Publishing Ltd Printed in the UK			

		ropieur reciteri
8.	Summary and perspectives Acknowledgments References	545 546 546

Topical Review

1. Introduction

In recent years, the physics of complex fluids such as colloidal dispersions, liquid crystals, polymers, biopolymers, and emulsions has attracted growing interest [1], stimulated partly by the important role of these materials in a variety of technological applications. The present topical review deals with class of complex fluids which we call 'dipolar fluids'. These consist of particles with an electric or magnetic dipole moment. The resulting dipole–dipole interactions are complex in the sense that they are strongly direction dependent and of long range. Recent theoretical and experimental research has demonstrated that fluids with dominant dipole–dipole interactions can display new, unexpected behaviour such as self-assembly of the particles into dipolar chains [2], and crystallization into novel structures [3, 4]. These developments have rejuvenated the interest in understanding dipolar fluids by statistical mechanical methods.

Historically, research on dipolar fluids was mainly motivated by the importance of dipolar forces in molecular liquids, the majority of which consist of polar molecules with permanent electric dipole moments [5–7]. Examples are, of course, water, but also chloroform, methanol, and acetonitrile. The dipolar interactions in these systems are important not only for the solvation properties; they also lead to a significant increase of the vapour–liquid critical temperature relative to typical non-polar fluids [7]. Dipolar interactions also have an impact on the phase behaviour of liquid crystals [8, 9] where they can stabilize or destabilize certain mesophases [9]. However, as far as structural properties are considered, dipolar interactions in *molecular* complex fluids are often less determinant than other factors such as van der Waals forces, anisotropic steric forces, or hydrogen bonding [7].

This is different in several colloidal systems where dipole–dipole interactions may indeed play a key role. An important example is ferrofluids [10–13], which are suspensions of single-domain ferromagnetic nano-particles in carrier liquids such as water or oil. Due to the large (permanent) magnetic dipole moments, ferrofluids are extremely sensitive to external magnetic fields. The accompanying structural and rheological effects [13] such as formation of long chains and the resulting dramatic increase of the viscosity have led to a broad variety of technical applications. On the other hand, some strongly coupled ferrocolloids self-assemble into chains even in the *absence* of an external field [14]. An example is given in the left part of figure 1.

In colloidal dispersions consisting of superparamagnetic particles, dipolar interactions between the particles can be induced by an external magnetic field. Particular attention has recently been given to two-dimensional realizations of magnetic colloids, with repulsive interactions generated by an out-of-plane magnetic field [15–17]. These systems have proven to be excellent experimental 'model systems' to study the two-dimensional freezing transition [18]. Further systems with induced dipoles are magnetorheological [19, 20] and electrorheological fluids [21–23] where the external magnetic/electrical fields can generate various patterns [24] and structural transitions accompanied by dramatic changes of the rheological behaviour [25]. In this context, an aspect receiving increasing interest is the *micromechanical* properties of the chains formed at intermediate field strength [26, 27, 29, 28, 30]. On the other hand, the solid structures formed in magnetorheological fluids at high field strengths are discussed as candidates for the generation of novel magnetic crystals [31–33]. We finally mention colloidal polarizable particles subject



Figure 1. Left: cryo-transmission electron micrographs (TEMs) [14] of metallic iron particles suspended in decalin in the absence of an external magnetic field. The radius of the iron core of the particles gradually increases from ferrofluid B (6 nm) to ferrofluid E (8 nm), yielding an increase of the magnetic dipole moment and a corresponding increase of the dipolar coupling between the particles. Right: field-induced crystallization [34] of latex spheres (diameter 1.4 μ m) on a glass surface with an in-plane electric field. (a) Homogeneous fluid phase before application of the field. (b) Formation of chains in field direction. (c) Formation of a two-dimensional crystal due to lateral interactions between the chains.

to spatially varying electric fields (dielectrophoresis) [34–37]. Figure 1 (right) illustrates the behaviour of such systems in two dimensions (with in-plane induced dipoles).

The above examples demonstrate the richness of phenomena induced by dipolar interactions. They also illustrate that, in many cases of practical interest, dipolar fluids are

subject to external perturbations such as confinement or magnetic (electric) external fields. Understanding the impact of such perturbations on the material properties of dipolar, and any complex, fluid thus becomes more and more important [38]. Only very recently, however, basic questions concerning simple *bulk* dipolar model fluids have been solved, and a deeper understanding of the impact of perturbations such as confinement is just starting to emerge.

The goal of the present topical review is to summarize and discuss recent theoretical progress concerning the structure and phase properties of dipolar fluids influenced by various *time-independent* perturbations. That is, we do not address here the properties of systems subject to shear flow [25] or other time-varying (e.g., rotating magnetic [39–41]) fields. Moreover, we concentrate on fluids of spherical particles and *permanent* (point) dipole moments, for which bulk behaviour has been intensely studied in the last decade [2]. Systems with induced dipoles are only briefly touched on. The same holds for quasi-two-dimensional dipolar fluids, which have been considered in a recent review of Weis [42]. We also note that the model fluids considered in this review are frequently used as model ferrofluids, for which equilibrium properties have been recently summarized by Huke and Lücke [43].

This topical review is organized as follows. In section 2 we present a summary of recent results concerning *bulk* dipolar model fluids. The subsequent sections are each devoted to a different type of perturbation. To begin with, we discuss in sections 3 and 4 the impact of spatial confinement realized in simple confining geometries and in disordered porous media, respectively. Further topics concern the effect of quenched positional disorder (section 5), the influence of external magnetic or electric fields (section 6), and the fluid–fluid phase behaviour of dipolar fluids with non-uniform dipole moments (section 7). Finally, some overall conclusions for dipolar fluids under external perturbations are drawn in section 8, where we also discuss open problems in this context and the theoretical and computational challenges that lie ahead.

2. The unperturbed system

The basic model underlying the following discussions is a three-dimensional, one-component dipolar fluid consisting of spherical particles (diameter σ) with permanent point dipole moments μ_i . The resulting pair potential has the form

$$u(12) = u_{\rm SR}(r) + u_{\rm DD}(12), \tag{2.1}$$

where $u_{SR}(r)$ is some short-range potential, which depends only on the interparticle separation $r = |\mathbf{r}| = |\mathbf{r}_1 - \mathbf{r}_2|$, and the second term in (2.1) represents the dipole–dipole interaction

$$u_{\rm DD}(12) = \frac{\mu_1 \cdot \mu_2}{r^3} - 3 \frac{(\mu_1 \cdot r)(\mu_2 \cdot r)}{r^5}.$$
 (2.2)

One characteristic feature of u_{DD} is its long range: it decays only as r^{-3} and therefore much slower than, e.g., the van der Waals interactions between two molecules [5]. Secondly, the interaction is strongly anisotropic in the sense that it favours—depending on the spatial configuration of two particles—rather parallel or antiparallel alignment, or something in between. In particular, the energetically most favourable configuration of two dipolar spheres of diameter σ is a head-to-tail alignment, whereas two spheres lying side-by-side prefer to point *antiparallel* instead of parallel. Both features—range and anisotropy—are important to understand the complex structural and phase behaviour of such systems, as illustrated below. However, a further important factor, particularly for the low-density behaviour, is the character of the short-range potential $u_{SR}(r)$ supplementing the dipolar interaction [44, 2].

We start by considering systems where the short-range potential is purely repulsive. Common examples are so-called *dipolar hard spheres* (DHSs) or *dipolar soft spheres* (DSSs)



Figure 2. Sketch of the phase diagram of bulk DHS and DSS fluids in the plane spanned by the reduced density $\rho^* = \rho\sigma^3$ and the reduced temperature $T^* = k_B T \sigma^3 / \mu^2$. The symbols in the low-density regime denote states where MC simulations reveal clustering and chain formation (solid, open, and grey circles and the triangle correspond to results from [44] (DSS), [45] (DHS), [46] (DHS), and [47] (DHS)). The cross indicates a critical point separating chained states as predicted in [46]. The boxes in the high-density regime denote states with long-range parallel ordering of the dipoles as predicted by MC simulations for DHS [48–50] (filled boxes) and MD simulations for DSS [51, 52] (open boxes). Corresponding integral equation (RHNC) results [53, 54] and modified mean-field theory (MMFT) results [55] for the phase transition between isotropic and ferromagnetic/ferroelectric fluid states in DHS systems are indicated by the rectangle [53], the solid line [54] (RHNC), and the dashed (MMFT) line [55].

defined by

$$u(12) = u_{\rm HS}(r) + u_{\rm DD}(12) \qquad (DHS), \tag{2.3}$$

$$u(12) = u_{\rm SS}(r) + u_{\rm DD}(12) \qquad (DSS), \tag{2.4}$$

$$u(12) = u_{SS}(r) + u_{DD}(12)$$
 (DSS), (2.4)

where $u_{\rm HS}(r) = \infty$ (0) for $r < \sigma$ ($r > \sigma$) and $u_{\rm SS}(r) = 4\epsilon_0 (\sigma/r)^{12}$ is the hard- and softsphere potential, respectively. Fluids of DHSs and DSSs display the same type of phase behaviour, which is illustrated in figure 2. The sketched phase diagram focuses on the fluid phase regime and contains results from a variety of recent studies based on Monte Carlo (MC) and molecular dynamics (MD) computer simulations, integral equation techniques, and density functional theory. We note that, even for the restricted density range considered in figure 2, a complete picture for the low-temperature phase behaviour (including precise location of the phase boundaries) still does not exist.

Chain formation

At high reduced temperatures $T^* = k_B T \sigma^3 / \mu^2$ (with k_B being the Boltzmann constant), that is when the thermal energy dominates the dipolar interactions, DHS/DSS systems form an ordinary, homogeneous isotropic fluid state in the whole density range considered. This changes at low T^* and low densities, where the anisotropy of the interaction drives the particles to *self-assemble* into long clusters and chainlike structures. Interestingly, chain formation was predicted as early as 1970 by de Gennes and Pincus [56].

However, only in the 1990s were chainlike structures directly observed in a number of MC computer simulation studies of dilute DHSs/DSSs [44–47, 57]. These investigations suggest that the self-assembled chains are 'living polymers' [47] which frequently break and recombine,

rather than true chain 'molecules' with stable bonds. Moreover, the chain formation seems to suppress [44] the usual vapour-liquid transition, which was originally expected to occur since the orientationally averaged, Boltzmann-weighted dipolar interaction between two DHS/DSS particles is *attractive*. This discrepancy has stimulated a number of theoretical investigations based on concepts such as polymer theory [47, 58-61], Debye-Hückel theory [62] and other free energy approximations [63] (for a review, see [2]). These studies have helped to understand some characteristics of the 'chained state' (such as the length distribution) observed in the simulations, whereas the question as to why chain formation suppresses the vapour-liquid transition (at the temperatures investigated) remains unsettled [2]. A main argument brought up in this context is that as soon as the particles in the dilute gas have self-assembled into chains the interactions between the chains become very weak and short ranged, leaving no driving force for a condensation into a denser state [2]. We note, however, that more recent, large-scale simulations of Camp et al [46] yield again a different picture where a critical gasliquid transition does indeed occur, but at extremely small values of the critical temperature and density as indicated by the cross in figure 2. Also, the structure of the coexisting phases is dominated by chains rather than by isotropic aggregates as in simple fluids. Based on these results, Tlusty and Safran [64] have proposed to consider the transition as a 'connectivity' transition separating an 'end-rich' gas consisting of isolated chains and a denser, 'junctionrich' liquid consisting of branched chains. We finally mention a recent study of strongly interacting, dilute DSS fluids [65] where it was demonstrated, based on MD and Brownian dynamics simulation, that chain formation is clearly reflected in the frequency-dependent dielectric (magnetic) response. These results may be relevant for the interpretation of future relaxation experiments on strongly interacting dipolar fluids [66].

Direct experimental observation of chain formation in the *absence* of external fields has been recently achieved in thin layers of ferrofluids with dominating (magnetic) dipole–dipole interactions [14, 67, 68] and other near-to-two-dimensional systems [42]. An illustration is given in the left part of figure 1.

Long-range orientational ordering and some theoretical approaches

We now turn to *dense*, strongly coupled DHS/DSS fluids. For such systems, computer simulations of the early 1990s [48–52] have revealed the occurrence of *spontaneous* polarization¹ within the *fluid* part of the phase diagram. The resulting state is characterized by long-range parallel order of the dipole moments, and consequently a non-vanishing order parameter $P_1 \equiv N^{-1} |\sum_{i=1}^{N} \hat{\mu}_i \cdot \hat{\mathbf{d}}|$ (the caret denotes unit vectors) involving a global director $\hat{\mathbf{d}}$. At the same time, the translational structure is still short ranged. We note that in experiments of ferrofluids, which are closest to the DHS/DSS models considered here, long-range order has so far not been observed, possibly since the required density range (see figure 2) is beyond the density range currently accessible in ferrofluids. Nevertheless, what has been reported [66] is a strong increase of the magnetic susceptibility upon cooling a ferrofluid at $\rho^* \approx 0.3$, that is the precursor of long-range parallel ordering.

Even among theorists the detection of ferroelectric/ferromagnetic, yet *nematic*, states in simple dipolar fluids was quite a surprise in view of the anisotropic nature of the dipolar interactions. Subsequent investigations (based on simulations [49, 52] and various levels of density functional theory [69–73]) have indicated that the existence of such phases hangs on several factors. First of all, and this is a consequence of the long-range character of the interaction, parallel ordering of the *whole* system occurs only for appropriate boundary

¹ To be consistent with the original literature on this phenomenon we use here the language appropriate for electric dipoles.

conditions, which do not result in any depolarizing fields. Examples are samples with the shape of a long needle (with the ordering direction parallel to the long axis of the needle) [69–71], and spherical samples immersed in a conducting medium. The latter situation is the one usually considered in computer simulations [49, 52]. In other situations (such as spherical samples in a vacuum) one expects the system to break off into polarized domains. The thermodynamic conditions under which ordering occurs within one (macroscopically large) domain should then be comparable to that of the whole system with 'tin-foil' boundary conditions [72, 73].

Each particle in the polarized fluid (or domain) feels not only the local field E^{local} stemming from its immediate neighbours, but also a mean field [74] generated by the parallel order of the dipoles outside the local correlation sphere. This mean field is given by

$$E^{\rm MF} = (4\pi/3)P = (4\pi/3)\rho\mu P_1 \hat{\mathbf{d}}, \qquad (2.5)$$

yielding an energy contribution $U^{\text{MF}}/V = -1/2 \mathbf{P} \cdot \mathbf{E}^{\text{MF}} = -(2\pi/3)\rho^2 \mu^2 P_1^2$ to the total energy per volume V [75, 76]. The mean field thus *favours* parallel ordering, especially at high densities.

The second reason for the existence of ferroelectric fluid phases is that the particles can develop suitable short-range spatial correlations, which minimize the frustration stemming from the anisotropy of the dipolar interaction in the local environment of a particle, and thereby optimize the field E^{local} . Specifically, the particles form long, parallel chains which tend to align relative to each other such that neighbouring chains are out of registry [51, 52, 49]. Due to this arrangement, neighbouring chains indeed *attract* rather than repel each other, as was first shown by Tao and Sun [3, 4] in the context of electrorheological fluids (where the dipoles point parallel *a priori*). Clearly, the optimization of E^{local} works even better within polarized *solid* states and such states have indeed been found in computer simulations at densities beyond those considered in figure 2. Several crystalline structures have been observed, such as body-centred tetragonal [49, 51, 52], face-centred cubic [49], and body-centred orthorhombic [49, 77]. However, the true (ground-state) structure of dense DHS/DSS systems is still an open problem.

Given the complex interplay between long- and short-range correlations, it is clear that theoretical predictions of the ferroelectric transition are rather challenging, even when only fluid states are considered. In figure 2 we have included results from two different approaches. The first one is density functional theory in the modified mean-field approximation (MMFT) [55] (for more details, see section 7.1), which approach was established for dipolar fluids by Groh and Dietrich [70, 71]. The MMFT locates the phase transition between the isotropic and the ferroelectric liquid within the same density range predicted by the computer simulation results, but the temperatures related to the onset of parallel ordering are much too high. This is since the MMFT focuses on the mean field (2.5) as the driving force for spontaneous ordering, whereas the competing short-range correlations are strongly underestimated. This aspect is somewhat better taken into account by integral equation theory [78], which is the basis for the theoretical predictions of Wei *et al* [53] and Klapp and Forstmann [54] included in figure 2. These authors have numerically solved the exact Ornstein–Zernike (OZ) equation [79]

$$h(12) = c(12) + \rho \int d3 h(13) c(32)$$
(2.6)

with h(12) = g(12) - 1 and c(12) being the total and the direct correlation function, respectively, in combination with the reference hypernetted chain (RHNC) approximation [80, 81]

$$g(12) = \exp[-\beta u(12) + h(12) - c(12) + B^{\text{HS}}(12)], \qquad (2.7)$$

with the hard-sphere Bridge function $B^{\text{HS}}(12)$ [80, 81] (the choice $B^{\text{HS}}(12) = 0$ corresponds to the conventional HNC approximation [78]). The results in figure 2 are based on the RHNC

correlation functions for the *isotropic* fluid phase [82, 54], implying that ferroelectric phase transitions are detected only via a divergence of the dielectric constant (and, respectively, by a density functional estimate based on the isotropic correlations [53]). The corresponding temperatures (see figure 2) significantly improve the predictions for the onset of long-range parallel ordering compared to the MMFT. We finally mention two very recent theoretical studies [83, 84] dealing with the onset of long-range ordering on the basis of exact expressions for the singlet density combined with approximate correlation functions. The results [83, 84] question again the very *existence* of spontaneous ordering, which is in contradiction to the computer simulation results. Nevertheless, this discrepancy does illustrate the persisting difficulties in understanding the low-temperature behaviour of DHS/DSS fluids, including features such as the boundaries (and the nature of the related phase transition) between isotropic and ordered phases.

2.1. The impact of attractive interactions

The model fluids discussed so far are suitable for the description of some sterically stabilized dipolar colloids [85, 86], but not when polar molecular fluids [5–7] or dipolar colloidal systems with *dispersive* interactions are considered. A common model incorporating dispersive, i.e. isotropic attractive interactions is the so-called *Stockmayer* fluid defined by

$$u(12) = u_{\rm LJ}(r) + u_{\rm DD}(12), \tag{2.8}$$

where the first term is the conventional Lennard-Jones (LJ) potential given by $u_{LJ}(r) = 4\epsilon_0((\sigma/r)^{12} - (\sigma/r)^6)$. The ratio of dipolar relative to dispersive interactions can be measured by the parameter $m^{*2} = \mu^2/\epsilon_0\sigma^3$. In the limit $m^{*2} \to \infty$ (at fixed ϵ_0 and σ), the dipolar interactions dominate, and the phase behaviour of Stockmayer fluids reduces to that of DSS fluids discussed in the preceding paragraph. Upon decreasing m^{*2} , the main effect of the dispersive interactions is the re-appearance of the vapour–liquid transition (within the isotropic phase). Gibbs-ensemble Monte Carlo (GEMC) results for the corresponding coexistence curves of systems up to $m^{*2} = 6.0$ have been obtained by Neumann [87] and van Leeuwen [7]. Theoretical approaches such as MMFT [70, 71] and RHNC also predict an (isotropic) vapour–liquid coexistence, e.g. at $m^{*2} = 4.0$, with the RHNC critical temperature being very close to that predicted by the GEMC simulations [54]. At higher densities Stockmayer fluids display ferroelectric liquid and solid phases in analogy to the DHS/DSS systems. An exemplary phase diagram has been recently obtained by Gao *et al* [77] on the basis of constant-pressure MC simulations.

3. Confinement by slit-pore geometries

Understanding the material properties of fluids confined to nanoscopic spaces plays a central role in many applications involving porous materials [88, 89], in micro- and nanofluidics [90, 91], in nanotribology [92–94], and in electrochemical applications [95]. The investigation of simple [96] and complex (such as dipolar) fluids in confinement is thus a very active field of research [88]. In this section we focus on situations where a dipolar fluid is confined to one single 'pore' space, specifically a slit pore defined by two plane-parallel, infinitely extended walls. Though somewhat idealized, the slit-pore model does have relevance in the context of well characterized materials such as activated carbon fibres or MCM-41 [88, 89], in lubrication experiments [97], and, obviously, in situations where the fluid is trapped between two planar surfaces such as electrodes.

Indeed, most of the earlier studies on confined dipolar fluids have focused on electrochemical problems [95] involving the structure and ordering of polar solvents in the vicinity of one or two planar electrodes. In these studies, the solvent is typically modelled

as a system of pure DHS (see, e.g., [98–101]) or Stockmayer [102, 103] particles, but more complex solvents such as binary dipolar mixtures [104, 105] and ion–dipole mixtures [106] have been investigated as well. The latter systems display particularly interesting effects such as a surface-induced *demixing* transition [106]. Many of these investigations have been performed on the basis of (HNC-like) integral equation theories [99, 106] and density-functional approaches [101, 104, 105, 107], which are approximate but computationally much less expensive than computer simulations of confined dipolar fluids [98, 102, 103, 107–109]. Indeed, for simulations the combination of long-range dipolar interactions and reduced spatial symmetry is still a challenge. In particular, well established *bulk* techniques such as the three-dimensional Ewald summation [110, 111] have to be significantly modified [42], yielding generally an increase in computational time (as compared to the bulk). Some simplifications arise for confined fluids with *induced* dipoles such as electrorheological fluids between two charged electrodes [112]. The experimentally observed complex structure formation [23] in electrorheological fluids, involving self-assembly of the particles into chains, columns, and sheets, has been partly reproduced in simulation studies [112, 39].

In the limit of vanishing surface separation the slit-pore geometry degenerates into a planar confinement. Over the last five years, the resulting *two-dimensional* (2D) dipolar fluids have been intensely studied, mostly by computer simulations (for a review, see [42]). Interest in 2D systems (or thin dipolar films) has been triggered, on one hand, by recent experimental studies involving dipole-coupled *colloidal* films containing very few or even only one layer of particles. Examples are the systems illustrated in figure 1, Fe₂O₃-doped colloidal particles arranged on water–air interfaces [15–17], which have turn out to be excellent model systems to study 2D crystallization, and coated magnetic micro-spheres floating on a glycerin surface [31, 113]. Further motivation has been supplied by the behaviour of thin magnetic (solid) films [114, 115], in which the interplay of dipolar, exchange, and surface interactions leads to a complex phase behaviour (for a summary of corresponding simulation results see [42]).

Computer simulations of 2D *fluids* with *permanent* dipoles have so far focused on dilute states. Results for 2D versions of DHS and DSS fluids (with three-dimensional dipole moments) suggest that these systems do not condense but display chain formation [116–121] in close analogy to what is observed in the bulk (see figure 2). Characteristic features of the 2D chains have been investigated in [119, 120] on the basis of polymer theory. Finally, by adding dispersive interaction one recovers again an ordinary vapour–liquid transition, as demonstrated in GEMC simulations of 2D Stockmayer fluids [122].

Compared to the large number of data for 2D dipolar fluids, little is known about the phase behaviour of dipolar fluid films with *finite* thickness. In the following we summarize recent simulation results [123, 124] on strongly coupled DSS squeezed between smooth, non-conducting walls.

3.1. Local and global ordering in strongly coupled confined fluids

Given the appearance of an orientationally ordered, yet liquid-like phase in bulk dipolar fluids (see figure 2), a main question addressed by Klapp and Schoen [123, 124] was whether or not spontaneous ordering of this type exists in nanoscopic slit pores. To this end they performed MC simulations in a constant-parallel-pressure (P_{\parallel}) ensemble, fixing temperature and dipole moment at values where dense bulk DSS fluids are ferromagnetic.

It turns out that spontaneous ordering does indeed occur in certain ranges of the wall separation L_z . Exemplary configurations of a system with $L_z = 7\sigma$ are given in figure 3, where the left and right parts correspond to the isotropic (low P_{\parallel}) and ferromagnetic (high P_{\parallel}) phases, respectively. The displayed particles are those within one of the contact layers,



Figure 3. Two configurations of DSS particles in the contact layer of confined DSS fluids $(k_{\rm B}T/\epsilon_0 = 1.35 \text{ and } \mu/\sqrt{\epsilon_0\sigma^3} = 3.0)$. Left: isotropic phase $(P_{\parallel}^* = 1.0)$. Right: ferromagnetic phase $(P_{\parallel}^* = 5.0)$. The thick arrow labelled by 'd' denotes the direction of the global director in the *x*-*y* plane. From [124].

that is the layers closest to the walls (note that layer formation, six layers in the present case, is a generic effect in slit-pore confined systems [89]). The isotropic state is characterized by the appearance of clusters and chains of particles with essentially random directions, as expected for a dilute, strongly coupled dipolar fluid (see figure 2). In this regard, a main effect of the spatial confinement is that the dipolar particles tend to form chains with *in-plane* rather than *out-of-plane* orientation. This is reminiscent of the chain formation in true 2D dipolar fluids [42]. The orientationally ordered state (right part of figure 3) of the confined fluid is characterized by long, essentially straight chains aligned into a direction within the plane parallel to the walls. The in-plane structure perpendicular to the chains is generally more open, and inspection of the corresponding in-plane correlation functions [123] shows that the ordered system is still *liquid-like* within the layers.

Comparing the confined fluid with its bulk counterpart, it turns out that the walls *promote* rather than suppress spontaneous orientational order. This can be explained by the fact that the director $\hat{\mathbf{d}}$ in the confined system is forced to point along an (arbitrary) direction *parallel* to the walls (ordering in the normal direction would lead to surface charges, generating, in turn, a demagnetizing/depolarizing field). Due to this restriction, which is absent in the bulk, orientational fluctuations are constrained even in the isotropic phase and the ferromagnetic transition occurs at significantly lower pressures/densities [123].

In view of the MC results at $L_z = 7\sigma$ it is tempting to ask whether long-range parallel ordering becomes even more promoted (relative to the bulk) when the wall separation further decreases. However, the very *existence* of ferromagnetic liquid ordering in systems near 2D is unclear at present [42]. Indeed, Klapp and Schoen [123] were not able to reach definite conclusions on ferromagnetic ordering at wall separations $L_z \leq 6\sigma$, due to a strong increase of equilibration time. We note that the structure of the *solid* phases of 2D dipolar fluids is also unknown. Ground-state lattice calculations for 2D dipolar (magnetic) spin systems have revealed various types of orientational ordering depending on the lattice structure, which is expected due to the strong positional–orientational coupling of the dipolar interactions. In particular, square lattices [125] and honeycomb lattices [126] display *antiferromagnetic* ordering characterized by two or several sublattices. On the other hand, hexagonal lattices support *ferromagnetic* ordering, as demonstrated by recent simulations of Russier [127].

4. Confinement by disordered porous media

So far we have considered only situations where the fluid is confined to one single pore space. However, real porous solids most often contain an interconnected network of pores of various sizes and shapes [88]. Prominent examples for such *disordered* porous materials are mesoporous glasses such as Vycor and CPG (controlled pore glass), which are typically characterized by a relatively low porosity (i.e., the volume fraction of the space available for the adsorbed fluid) of 30–60%, and (silica) aerogels, which are formed by extremely dilute disordered networks of microscopic particles (porosity 95–98%). Aerogels are important in many technological contexts such as in catalysis, gas separation, oil recovery, and purification [128]. An example of particular relevance in the present context is liquid chromatography, where aerogels composed of molecules with polar headgroups are employed for the purification of (polar) mixtures [129].

From a theoretical point of view, investigation of a dipolar—or any—model fluid adsorbed to an aerogel is significantly more complicated than in the bulk. This is due to the *quenched disorder* realized by the nearly random aerogel network. Only in the 1990s were statistical—mechanical tools to deal with this problem established, in particular a replica-integral equation formalism pioneered by Given and Stell [130–132]. These developments, as well as the first applications on 'simple' systems with spherical interactions, have been reviewed by Rosinberg [133] and Pizio [134]. In the following we focus on recent replica-integral equation studies [135–141] and computer simulations [137, 138] of confined dipolar fluids.

4.1. Models and theoretical treatment

All investigations of disordered adsorbed dipolar systems employ the concept of a *quenched*annealed (QA) mixture [133, 134] where the dipolar fluid molecules equilibrate in a solid 'matrix' of particles frozen (quenched) in a disordered configuration. The latter is chosen according to a distribution $P({Q})$ (with ${Q} = Q_1, ..., Q_{N_m}$ being the set of matrix particle coordinates which is typically assumed to be an equilibrium (canonical) distribution established at some inverse temperature β_0 . In the simplest case, the matrix particles are just neutral (hard) spheres [137, 139]), but more complicated situations such as charged matrices [138] or matrices consisting of anisotropic particles [136, 140, 141] have also been considered.

The adsorbed dipolar fluids investigated so far are DHS fluids [137, 138], Stockmayer fluids [139–141], and, in one case, a more realistic polar liquid composed of molecules with several sites [136]. In order to compute structural and thermodynamic properties of these annealed, yet perturbed, fluids, one needs to note that thermal averages $\langle \cdots \rangle$ involving the fluid's microscopic variables, still depend on the specific realization of the matrix. Thus, an additional average over different matrix configurations is required, yielding $[\langle \cdots \rangle_Q] = \int d\{Q\} \langle \cdots \rangle_Q P(\{Q\})$. For example, the total correlation function between two fluid particles with coordinates $q = (r, \omega)$ and $q' = (r, \omega)$ (in an macroscopically homogeneous and isotropic system) is defined as

$$\left(\frac{\rho}{4\pi}\right)^2 h_{\rm ff}(\bar{\boldsymbol{r}},\omega,\omega') \equiv \left[\left\langle\sum_{i\neq j}^N \delta(\boldsymbol{q}-\boldsymbol{q}_i)\delta(\boldsymbol{q}'-\boldsymbol{q}_j)\right\rangle_Q\right] - \left(\frac{\rho}{4\pi}\right)^2,\qquad(4.1)$$

where $\bar{r} = r - r'$. In computer simulations of adsorbed fluids, the double average (4.1) has to be performed explicitly by evaluating the thermal averages for several (e.g., six [137, 138]) different matrix configurations.

The idea of the replica approach is to circumvent the double average by relating the original QA system to a completely artificial, but fully annealed system. This is done by introducing, on

the basis of a simple mathematical identity [142], *n* copies $\alpha = 1, ..., n$ of the fluid variables. The resulting 'replicated' system is a (n + 1)-component fluid mixture [132] defined by the Hamiltonian

$$H^{\rm rep} = \frac{\beta_0}{\beta} H^{\rm mm}(\{Q\}) + \sum_{\alpha=1}^n \left(H^{\rm ff}(\{q^\alpha\}) + H^{\rm fm}(\{q^\alpha\}, \{Q\}) \right), \tag{4.2}$$

where the sub-Hamiltonians $H^{\text{mm(ff,fm)}}$ contain the interactions between the (former) matrix and the fluid particles. All particles in the multicomponent replicated system are *mobile*, with the implication that this system can be treated by standard liquid state approaches such as integral equation theories [78]. However, corresponding physical quantities are related to those of the original QA system only in the limit $n \rightarrow 0$, e.g.

$$h_{\rm ff}(\bar{r},\omega,\omega') = \lim_{n\to 0} h_{\alpha\alpha}^{\rm rep}(\bar{r},\omega,\omega'), \tag{4.3}$$

where $h_{\alpha\alpha}^{\text{rep}}$ is the total correlation function between two fluid particles of the same copy. The standard way to deal with this problem is to start from the integral equations for the (n + 1)-component replicated system (for an integer n) and to assume permutation symmetry between the replicas, which then allows us to perform the $n \rightarrow 0$ limit [130–132]. The resulting *replica-symmetric Ornstein–Zernike* (RSOZ) equations, which were originally derived for spherical systems, can be easily generalized to anisotropic systems [143], and can be numerically solved with the same techniques as developed for bulk fluids. This is described in detail in [137–140]; the corresponding interaction site formulation can be found in [136]. What is important to note is that the RSOZ equations are *exact* relationships, as are the OZ equations for bulk (dipolar) fluids. The approximate character of replica-integral equations is introduced through the closure expression relating the correlation functions to the pair potentials. The investigations on adsorbed DHS [137, 138] and Stockmayer fluids [139–141] are based on variants of the HNC equation introduced in (2.7).

4.2. Properties of dipolar model fluids in disordered media

The simplest disordered medium is realized by a hard-sphere (HS) matrix, resulting in purely repulsive fluid-matrix interactions. Their influence on the structure and thermodynamics of adsorbed DHS fluids (in the isotropic high-temperature phase) has been studied by Fernaud et al [137], who employed both replica-HNC theory and grand-canonical MC simulations. The HNC theory proved to be quite accurate at temperatures above the phase transition regime. The results also indicate that the presence of the matrix *facilitates* the transition into ferroelectric states. Similar observations were made by Spöler and Klapp [139] who employed an RHNC approximation to investigate the phase behaviour of an adsorbed Stockmayer fluid. Based on investigation of the dielectric constant, these authors found the ferroelectric transition temperatures to *increase* with increasing matrix density. A further main finding from [139] was that the vapour-liquid (VL) transition occurring in bulk Stockmayer fluids (see section 2.1) still takes place in matrices with sufficiently high porosity, such as 95%. This is a value typical for real silica aerogel, where VL transitions have indeed been observed experimentally [144, 145]. The VL critical point of the Stockmayer model system is shifted towards a lower temperature and density, in agreement with previous results on simpler fluids in HS matrices [146, 147]. Shifts towards lower temperature and *higher* densities, which is the situation encountered in experiments [144, 145], are only observed in the presence of additional attractive fluid-matrix interactions [139]. Spöler and Klapp also showed that the effects of HS matrices on the VL transition can be reproduced when the dipolar model fluid is approximated by a fluid with angle- (Boltzmann-) averaged dipolar interactions [141].

More dramatic effects arise when the perturbation induced by the disordered matrix couples directly to the dipole moments of the fluid particles. An example are charges on the matrix particles, for which the influence on a DHS fluid has been studied by Fernaud et al [137]. They report a significant decrease of the dielectric constant, and an enhanced tendency for dipole association at low densities. Finally, Spöler and Klapp [140] have considered dipolar disordered matrices, using again replica-RHNC theory. Similar to charges, dipolar fluid-matrix interactions play a central role in liquid chromatography where polar liquids are adsorbed to disordered materials composed of molecules with polar headgroups [129]. Concerning the VL transition of the adsorbed Stockmayer fluid, the dipolar fields generated by the matrix act effectively as an *attractive isotropic* interaction between the fluid and the matrix [140]. The anisotropic nature of the dipolar interactions plays a more dominant role at high fluid densities where one observes a pronounced decrease of the dielectric constant, and a strong degree of local orientational ordering of the fluid particles along the local fields generated by the matrix [140]. Moreover, an instability of the dielectric constant, that is a precursor of ferroelectric ordering occurring both in bulk Stockmayer fluids [54, 214] and in fluids in non-polar matrices [139], is observed only for very small dipolar fluid-matrix couplings [140].

This suggests that larger fields destroy the ferroelectric ordering as one might indeed expect on physical grounds. However, even for the weakly disturbed systems it seems likely that the frozen dipolar matrix fields influence the structure *inside* the low-temperature ferroelectric state. Based on work on related systems such as nematic liquid crystals in disordered silica matrices (which have been intensely studied both experimentally [148, 149] and theoretically [150–152]) one could imagine that the *long-range* ferroelectric ordering typical for bulk fluids is replaced by some type of short-range or 'quasi'-long-range ordering. In our opinion, a closer investigation of the nature of the low-temperature states in disordered dipolar systems is currently beyond the replica-integral equation approach. This is partly because of technical factors (specifically, the increasing complexity of the Ornstein–Zernike equations in ordered states), but also because more simulation data are required in order to test and improve the closure approximations (including a discussion of replica-symmetry breaking [142]) under strongly coupled conditions.

5. Positional disorder

Another type of quenched disorder occurs in systems of dipolar particles with the positions being *frozen* in an irregular configuration. Examples for such systems, which seem better described as *amorphous solids* rather than as liquids, are mixed crystals with polar impurities (e.g., $K_{1-x}Li_xTaO_3$) [153, 154], diluted dipolar-coupled magnets (e.g., LiHo_xY_{1-x}F₄) [155, 156], assemblies of ultrafine ferromagnetic particles [157, 158], and 'frozen ferrofluids' [159–162]. The latter systems result from a quench of an equilibrated ferrofluid into a state below the freezing temperature of the non-magnetic solvent. This fixes the positions of the magnetic particles, whereas their dipole moments are still relatively free to rotate (except of random anisotropies generated by the frozen easy axes of the particles).

A common feature of the systems mentioned above is that the frozen positional structure is more or less random. Under these conditions, the anisotropy of the dipolar interaction necessarily introduces *competition* between ferromagnetic and antiferromagnetic interactions, with which the frozen system (in contrast to a dipolar fluid) cannot deal by developing suitable spatial arrangements. Moreover, the long-range nature of the dipolar coupling implies that many competing interactions can simultaneously influence the local field on a particular dipole. From this point of view, positionally frozen dipolar systems are often highly *frustrated* systems, which is consistent with the spin-glass-like behaviour detected in experiments of several mixed crystals [153, 154] and frozen ferrofluids [159]. The observed glassy behaviour (such as irreversibilities in polarization/magnetization measurements) seems to be restricted to very small dipole concentrations, that is, conditions where positional randomness is expected to play a dominant role. Some of the experimental observations have been explained by local mean-field theories [163–166] and computer simulations [167].

Another fundamental question on positionally frozen dipolar systems, especially when it comes to denser systems, concerns the existence of long-range orientational ordering. Interestingly, the answer appears to depend on the dimension of the dipolar degrees of freedom. Specifically, long-range order has been detected experimentally—and reproduced theoretically [165]—in diluted dipole-coupled magnets [155, 156], where the magnetic degrees of freedom are essentially 'Ising dipoles' (due to strong crystal anisotropies). On the other hand, frozen ferrofluids, where the dipoles are three dimensional, do not display any global ordering [159].

Theoretical results on three-dimensional, positionally dipolar systems are contradictory. In particular, a mean-field approach (MFT) [154] put forward by Zhang and Widom [168] suggests that quenched positional disorder simply reduces the range of the ordered phase in the temperature–density phase diagram (compared to fully coupled 3D dipolar fluids). On the other hand, subsequent results based on MD calculations by Ayton *et al* [75, 76] indicated that the systems rather freeze orientationally into a glass-like state as the temperature is decreased. As discussed by Ayton *et al* [75, 76], one may interpret this discrepancy either as a failure of the MFT (which tends to underestimates frustration) or as a failure of the simulations (which might not have reached equilibrium). Subsequent theoretical results by Klapp and Patey [169] have shed some new light on this question. Their approach, which was later extended to Heisenberg systems by Lomba *et al* [170, 171], is a variant of the replica theory employed for disordered confined fluids (section 4).

5.1. Replica approach and the occurrence of global ferroelectric ordering

The simplest model for a positionally frozen dipolar system consists of spherical particles with the positions fixed according to a distribution $P(\{r\}) = P(r_1, \ldots, r_N)$, and with freely rotating dipole moments. Thus, thermal averages $\langle \ldots \rangle_r$ over the orientational degrees of freedom depend on the spatial configuration $\{r\}$ and need to be supplemented by an average over $P(\{r\})$. The resulting double averages can be circumvented [169] by means of the replica method, in analogy to the corresponding procedure for partly quenched mixtures (see section 4.1). The only difference is that for the latter systems quenched and annealed variables belong to *different* particles, while for the present system *one* particle involves both a quenched variable (its position) and an annealed degree of freedom (its orientation). As a consequence, the 'replicated' system corresponding to the positionally frozen dipolar system (in the limit $n \rightarrow 0$) is nothing else than a special, one-component dipolar fluid, where each (spherical) particle carries 1 + n degrees of freedom: the particle's position and the orientation of *n* dipole moments within the particle. Choosing a canonical distribution (at inverse temperature β_0) for $P(\{r\})$, the corresponding replicated Hamiltonian is given as [169]

$$H^{\text{rep}} = \frac{\beta_0}{\beta} \sum_{i>j} u^{\text{SR}}(r_{ij}) + \sum_{\alpha=1}^n \sum_{i>j} u^{\text{DD}}(r_{ij}, \omega_i^{\alpha}, \omega_j^{\alpha}).$$
(5.1)

Based on (5.1), a set of replica-integral equations in the HNC approximation was derived [169]. Numerical solutions were obtained for systems in globally isotropic states, with the consequence that long-range ferroelectric ordering could only be detected via a divergence of the dielectric constant ϵ . Results are shown in figure 4. Based on the behaviour of ϵ ,



Figure 4. Overview of the replica-HNC results for a frozen dipolar system with randomly distributed positions in the temperature–density plane. The filled circles indicate the lowest temperatures where numerical solutions could be obtained; the solid line is simply to guide the eye. The theory predicts ferroelectric order for densities above the dashed line. Also shown is the boundary of the ferroelectric phase according to mean-field theory (MFT) [168]. The square indicates the density and the lowest temperature investigated in MD simulations [75, 76]. From [169].

ferroelectric order was found to occur at low temperatures and densities beyond a threshold density ($\rho_{\min}^* \approx 0.5$), indicating that the long-range dipolar interactions (which favour ordering) may indeed overcome the short-range frustration induced by positional disorder.

The existence of a threshold density is consistent with the experimental results for frozen ferrofluids [159, 161] where the dipole density was typically rather small ($\rho^* < 0.1$) and no spontaneous polarization was found. At high densities, the HNC predictions for the ferroelectric transition temperatures depend strongly on the degree of spatial correlation in the underlying system of frozen spheres [169]. For a randomly frozen system (i.e., g(r) = 1), the transition temperatures are found to be much lower than that those predicted by the MFT [168], and also considerably lower than the temperature where the MD simulations [75, 76] (lacking evidence for ferroelectric order) have been performed. Moreover, the HNC predicts a gradual local freezing of the dipole axes upon decreasing temperature (induced by inhomogeneities in the spatial structure). The HNC results thus supplement rather than contradict the MD results, which also indicate some sort of orientational freezing [75, 76]. On the other hand, strong positional correlations can push the transition towards temperatures even higher than those in equilibrated dipolar fluids. This is consistent with subsequent results for positionally frozen Heisenberg fluids by Lomba *et al* [170, 171].

6. Field-induced structural effects

External magnetic or electric fields are one of the most obvious perturbations for fluids with permanent dipole moments, since these fields couple directly to the particles via the (external) one-body potential

$$\Phi^{\text{ext}}(1) = -\mu_1 \cdot H_0(1). \tag{6.1}$$

External fields are particularly important in the context of ferrofluids [10–12]: in these systems, the permanent magnetic dipole moments of the colloidal particles are typically so large that even small field strengths $H_0 = |H_0|$ yield a magnetic field energy comparable to the thermal energy, i.e., $\mu H_0/k_BT \approx 1$. Therefore, ferrofluids respond much more strongly to external

fields than polar molecular fluids, where the individual (electric) dipole moments are generally small [5]. The resulting excellent possibilities to control the material properties of ferrofluids by external fields have led to a broad variety of technical applications [10–12], many of which concern the hydrodynamic [12] and rheological behaviour (in particular, the viscosity), and the related microstructure. Theoretical approaches towards a description of these phenomena have been recently summarized by Hess [13] and Kröger *et al* [25]. In the following we focus on recent progress in describing the *equilibrium* behaviour of ferro- (and other dipolar) fluids in external fields.

Most of the theoretical studies in this context concentrate on calculating averaged quantities such as the magnetization $M(H_0)$. At very low concentrations, ferrofluids display ideal gas behaviour, that is (for monodisperse systems), $M = M_{sat}\mathcal{L}(\alpha)$ with M_{sat} being the saturation magnetization, $\mathcal{L}(\alpha) = \coth(\alpha) - \alpha^{-1}$ is the Langevin function, and $\alpha = \mu H_0/k_B T$. In order to investigate systems at higher concentrations, various semi-analytical approaches have been proposed, including thermodynamic perturbation theory [172] and a theory based on Mayer expansions of the interparticle correlations [173, 174]. These approaches, which have been very recently reviewed by Huke and Lücke [43] perform well in quite dilute ferrofluids (magnetic volume fractions up to ~10–12%) with moderate coupling strengths $(\mu^2/k_BT\sigma^3 \leq 1)$, but break down when denser systems or more strongly coupled ferrofluids are considered [175]. Clearly, these drawbacks are due to the increasing importance of interparticle correlations [43].

The most important correlational effect of an external field on a ferrofluid (and any strongly coupled dipolar fluid) is the self-assembly of particles into chain-like structures parallel to the field direction, an effect which was theoretically predicted as early as the 1970s by de Gennes and Pincus [56] together with their work on spontaneous chain formation (see section 2). The practical importance of field-induced chain formation results from the accompanying strong modifications of the ferrofluids rheological behaviour [25], particularly the abrupt increase of viscosity [11]. Field-induced chain formation has been directly observed and analysed in computer simulations of dipolar model fluids [57, 176, 177]. Experimental visualization of the self-assembly has been achieved in two-dimensional ferrofluids [67, 68] and other dipolar colloidal systems [36, 34] where the external field points along a direction *within* the plane to which the particles are confined. In particular, Velev and co-workers [36, 34] have shown that sufficiently large fields drive the chains (formed already at smaller fields) to coalesce into novel two-dimensional crystal structures (see figure 1). A summary of computer simulation results concerning 2D dipolar fluids in a field is given in the review of Weis [42].

Coming back to three-dimensional systems, we note that scattering experiments (see, e.g., [178–181]) indicate the field-induced aggregation into chains by a strong anisotropy of the scattering intensity, i.e. the structure factor $S(\mathbf{k})$ of the colloidal magnetic particles, which in turn reflects a strongly anisotropic pair correlation function g(12). These anisotropies have been recently analysed by MC [182] and Brownian dynamic [183] computer simulations. The latter reproduced the experimentally observed increase (decrease) of the scattering intensity in the direction perpendicular (parallel) to the field.

Theoretically, the natural framework to investigate the anisotropic correlations induced by external fields is the integral equation approach. Recent progress in this direction is summarized below in section 6.1. We close this brief overview by noting that external fields also have, naturally, an effect on the overall *phase behaviour* of dipolar model fluids. Most studies in this context concern the vapour–liquid transition of Stockmayer fluids. In particular, Stevens and Grest have shown via GEMC simulations that the external field generally increases the critical temperature [184]. Similar findings emerge from density functional theory [70] and other theoretical studies based on (approximate) free energy ansatzes [172, 69]. The behaviour of

dipolar mixtures in external fields is briefly discussed at the end of section 7. Experimentally, evidence for a stabilization of the condensation transition of ferrofluids by an external magnetic fields has been reported in [185, 186].

6.1. Integral equations for dipolar fluids with fluctuating orientational order

The first integral equation studies on dipolar fluids in external fields were performed in the 1980s and were based on highly idealized models where the dipoles are constrained to be *perfectly* aligned. Structural and thermodynamic properties of these systems have been investigated both within the mean-spherical approximation (MSA) [187, 188] and by RHNC theory [189, 190]. For finite external fields, however, one would expect the orientational order to be non-perfect or *fluctuating*. The development of appropriate integral equation techniques started only in the late 1990s, beginning with a series of studies on simpler orientable fluids such as the Heisenberg spin fluid [191–193] and other models with separable interactions [194]. The first (and so far, the only) applications to the more complicated dipolar case concern two-dimensional DHSs in the presence of an out-of-plane field [117], three-dimensional DHS systems [195], and systems of dipolar ellipsoids [196]. All of these studies consider homogeneous external fields yielding singlet densities of the form

$$\rho(1) = \rho(\omega_1) = \frac{\rho}{2\pi} \alpha(x_1), \tag{6.2}$$

where $\alpha(x_1) = \alpha(\cos \theta_1)$ is a normalized orientational distribution function and $\cos \theta_1$ describes the orientation of dipole 1 with respect to the field direction. In the *absence* of a field, the distribution $\alpha(x_1)$ is just a constant, whereas *perfect* orientational order corresponds to $\alpha^{\text{perfect}}(x) = \delta(x-1)$. At finite field strengths, $\alpha(x)$ has to be determined *self-consistently* along with the two-body correlations describing the structure of the ordered fluid. This means that the usual integral equations consisting of the Ornstein–Zernike relation plus a closure relation have to be supplemented by a third equation relating two-body correlations, the distribution $\alpha(x)$ and the external potential (6.1). References [195] and [196] are based on the exact Lovett–Mou–Buff–Wertheim (LMBW) equation [197, 198]

$$iL_1 \ln \rho(1) + iL_1 \beta \Phi^{\text{ext}}(1) = \frac{1}{\mathcal{V}} \int dr_1 \int dr_2 \int d\omega_2 c(12) iL_2 \rho(2), \qquad (6.3)$$

where \mathcal{V} is the (fixed) volume and $\mathbf{L} = -\mathbf{i}(\mathbf{r} \times \nabla)$ is the angular momentum operator. An alternative is to use the—likewise exact—first member of the Born–Green–Yvon (BGY) hierarchy [78], which involves the pair correlation function and the gradient of the interaction potential [117]. We note that both single-particle equations are capable of generating a nontrivial distribution even in the absence of a field (spontaneous ordering). From a technical point of view, the necessity to solve simultaneously three instead of two integral equations renders the approach somewhat more involved compared to the isotropic case. A further increase of the numerical effort arises through the reduced symmetry (cylindrical versus spherical), which implies that the orthogonal angle expansions for the two-body correlations become more complicated as well [195, 196].

Results obtained so far indicate that integral equation theories for ordered dipolar fluids are similarly accurate as in the isotropic case. Explicit comparison with computer simulation results has been made by Lomba *et al* [117] who considered DHS monolayers with an outof-plane external field. It is shown that the integral equation method (HNC approximation) provides an accurate description both of the structure and of the thermodynamic quantities for moderate dipolar coupling strengths $\mu^{*2} \approx 1$. Klapp and Patey [169] have studied orientationally ordered three-dimensional DHS fluids. As in the isotropic case [5], the MSA and the RHNC closure predict quite different results both for correlation functions and for the dielectric behaviour, with the RHNC results appearing more reliable in terms of internal consistency. Based on the RHNC approximation, it is also possible to study the isotropic–to–ferroelectric transition. This is done [195] by stabilizing the numerical calculations with an infinitesimal external field (in a true zero-field situation, the restoring force for a rotation of the global director is identically zero, yielding infinite perpendicular fluctuations). The integral equation results obtained *within* the ferroelectric phase reveal a strongly anisotropic dielectric response, and chain formation along the global director. This is consistent with computer simulation results for ferroelectric and field-ordered liquid phases [57, 176, 177].

Finally, the RHNC description of the ferroelectric liquid phase has also been employed as a *reference* in a second-order perturbation density functional study [199] for crystallization. Besides predictions for the preferred ferroelectric lattice structures, the theory also indicates that ferroelectric 'reference' liquid is indeed stable in a small range of densities. This finding contradicts earlier density functional studies [200, 201] based on isotropic reference states, but agrees with computer simulation results (see figure 2).

7. Size heterogeneities

Throughout this article we have considered *pure* dipolar fluids consisting of identical particles. This assumption, however, is not fulfilled in many real dipolar systems which are typically characterized by some sort of *non-uniformity*. In ferrofluids, for instance, non-uniformity is naturally introduced by the essentially omnipresent polydispersity. In typical ferrofluids, the sizes σ_i of the magnetic particles are distributed according to a log-normal or gamma distribution (with a mean diameter of about 10 nm) [43]. The magnetic dipole moments are coupled to the sizes through the relation

$$m_i = m \,\mathcal{V}_i = m \,\pi \sigma_i^3/6 \tag{7.1}$$

with *m* being the specific magnetization. Size polydispersity therefore yields automatically a non-uniformity in the distribution of dipole moments and the resulting interaction strengths. Recent experimental work (for a review, see [11]), as well as theoretical [83, 172, 174] and computer simulation studies [182, 202–204], has shown that the dipolar non-uniformities can indeed have a profound influence on the material properties of ferrofluids. For example, the presence of some larger particles in a system of predominantly smaller particles yields a significant increase of the field-induced magnetization and the initial susceptibility [204, 174]. Regarding the microstructure in strongly coupled systems, the computer simulations [182, 204] demonstrate that the self-assembled chains mostly consist of larger particles, whereas the majority (but not all) of the smaller particles remains non-aggregated. These observations can be reproduced by theory based on a free energy model, where the system is treated as a collection of non-interacting chains of different sizes [83]. The initial susceptibility of polydisperse systems has been recently considered by various free-energy approaches (for a summary, see [43]). An alternative approach was provided, as early as the 1970s and 1980s, by generalizations of integral equation techniques for one-component (isotropic) dipolar fluids to the mixture case (see [205-207] and [208] for applications of the MSA and the RHNC theory, respectively).

Further interesting effects of polydispersity appear when it comes to the phase behaviour. In particular, there is experimental evidence [86, 185, 209] that the vapour–liquid transition of polydisperse ferrofluids is accompanied by a saturation of larger (i.e., more strongly interacting) particles in the denser (liquid) phase. This phenomenon, which is of great importance as a method to *size-separate* the system [185], has been reproduced in a recent computer simulation

study [210] of the condensation of a polydisperse ferrocolloid. It also indicates that in polydisperse ferrofluids, which may be regarded as multicomponent mixtures, condensation transitions are always—at least to some degree—coupled with *demixing* phase transitions. However, a profound understanding of the appearance of these phase transitions and their dependence on external conditions (thermodynamic states, external fields) is still missing. The same is true for fluid–fluid phase transitions in *molecular* polar mixtures. The latter systems are intrinsically interesting since their polarities, and thereby their solvation properties, can be tuned by varying the composition [211, 212]. In order to make use of these properties, however, it is vital to know under which thermodynamic conditions these mixtures demix and/or condense. Again this is a topic which is so far not well understood, partly because computer simulations of model dipolar mixtures [213–215] are necessarily restricted to small portions of the parameter space.

In the following we summarize recent density functional and RHNC integral equation studies of Range and Klapp [216–219] for the fluid–fluid phase behaviour of the first approximation of polydisperse ferrofluids, that is *binary dipolar mixtures*. The same simplification has been made in most of the previous theoretical and simulation studies of ferrofluids (see, e.g., [83, 204, 220, 221]). The work of Range and Klapp goes beyond earlier theoretical studies in that the full interplay of condensation, demixing, and ferromagnetic ordering is considered.

7.1. Phase behaviour of binary dipolar mixtures

The investigations [216–219] are mainly based on modified mean-field density functional theory (MMFT), which has also been employed by Dietrich and co-workers [55, 70–72, 222] to study one-component dipolar fluids and related anisotropic systems such as Heisenberg spin fluids [223]. Within this framework, phase diagrams are determined by minimizing an approximate grand-canonical free energy functional $\Omega[\rho]$. Isotropic and spatially homogeneous ferromagnetic phases are included by considering singlet densities of the form $\rho_a(\mathbf{r}_1, \omega_1) = \rho_a(2\pi)^{-1}\bar{\alpha}_a(\cos\theta)$ where the subscripts *a* and *b* denote the components considered, and $\bar{\alpha}_a(\cos\theta)$ are orientational distribution functions of the form already introduced in section 6.1. The resulting MMF functional of a mixture of DHS is given by [216, 218]

$$\frac{\Omega}{\mathcal{V}} = \sum_{a} \frac{\rho_a}{\beta} \left[\ln(\rho_a \Lambda_a^3) - 1 \right] + \sum_{a} \frac{\rho_a}{\beta} \int_{-1}^{1} dx \,\bar{\alpha}_a(x) \,\ln(2\bar{\alpha}_a(x)) - \sum_{a} \mu_a \rho_a - H_0 \sum_{a} m_a \rho_a \int_{-1}^{1} dx \,\bar{\alpha}_a(x) \,x + \frac{F_{\rm HS}^{\rm ex}}{\mathcal{V}} + \frac{F_{\rm DD}^{\rm ex}}{\mathcal{V}},$$
(7.2)

where the first two terms on the right-hand side of (7.2) correspond to the ideal (translational and orientational) part of the free energy, μ_a are the chemical potentials, H_0 is the strength of a homogeneous external field, and $F_{\text{HS}}^{\text{ex}}$ is the excess free energy of the underlying mixture of mono- or bidisperse hard spheres [224–226]. The MMF approximation [70, 222] enters the dipolar contribution to the excess free energy, $F_{\text{DD}}^{\text{ex}}$, and consists in setting the pair distribution function $g_{ab}(12)$ involved in the *exact* expression for $F_{\text{DD}}^{\text{ex}}$ equal to its low density limit, i.e., $g_{ab}(12) \rightarrow \exp[-\beta u_{ab}(12)]$ (see [216, 217] for details). Minimization of the functional (7.2) with respect to ρ_a and $\alpha_a(x)$ then yields the equilibrium densities at given (μ_a, T, \mathcal{V}).

Based on the functional (7.2), Range and Klapp have investigated binary dipolar mixtures of increasing complexity, starting from the most basic model where the two components differ only in their dipole moments (i.e., $m_A \neq m_B$) and the external field H_0 is zero [216, 217]. Despite these restrictions, the results reveal complex fluid–fluid phase behaviour involving



Figure 5. MMFT phase diagrams in the density–temperature plane (left) and the concentration– temperature plane (right) for monodisperse DHS mixtures at $\Gamma = m_B^2/m_A^2 = 0.60$ and $\Delta \mu^* = \mu_B - \mu_A = 3.0$ ($T^* = k_B T \sigma^3/m_A^2$, $\rho^* = (\rho_A + \rho_B)\sigma^3$, $c_A = \rho_A/\rho$). Dashed lines are lines of critical points separating the isotropic gas (ig) from ferromagnetic fluid (fl) phases, CEP and TCP denote critical end points and tricritical points, respectively, and CP corresponds to a demixing critical point between two ferromagnetic fluids with different compositions. The inset on the left-hand side additionally contains the density–temperature diagram at $\Delta \mu^* = 1.3$. From [216].

both isotropic-to-ferromagnetic phase transitions (which also occur in the pure system) and particularly at small values of the parameter $\Gamma = m_B^2/m_A^2$ —demixing phase transitions. Exemplary phase diagrams are given in figure 5. The demixing transition separates a fluid saturated with less strongly coupled B particles and a denser fluid with strongly coupled A particles. This is, in principle, consistent with the condensation/demixing behaviour observed in real ferrofluids (see, e.g., [185]). Contrary to reality, however, the MMFT predicts demixing only at quite high packing fractions corresponding to the *ferromagnetically* ordered region of the phase diagram. The same is true for *bidisperse* mixtures [218], where the two species of DHSs differ not only in their dipole moments, but also in their sizes. On the other hand, more sophisticated approaches such as the RHNC theory [227, 228, 217] (and simulations for the limiting case $\Gamma = 0$ [229]) do indeed already predict demixing in the isotropic phase. This discrepancy underlines the relevance of correlational effects for the existence of demixing transitions in dipolar systems *without* dispersive interactions. Indeed, considering *Stockmayer* instead of DHS mixtures the MMFT yields isotropic demixing transitions in close agreement to the RHNC predictions [217].

A generic finding from both the MMFT studies [216–218] and an accompanying RHNC investigation [217] is that the ferromagnetic transition in dipolar mixtures is generally shifted towards significantly lower temperatures and/or higher densities compared to the one-component case, indicating that spontaneous parallel ordering in dipolar systems is generally strongly *destabilized* by non-uniformity in the dipole moments. This is consistent with a recent MC study of binary DHSs [202].

Finally, the case $H_0 \neq 0$ has also been studied within the MMFT [219]. For mixtures dominated by one of the components, MMFT predicts the tricritical point of the transition between an isotropic gas and a ferromagnetic liquid occurring at $H_0 = 0$ to be changed into a critical point separating two magnetically ordered phases of different densities. The corresponding critical temperature increases with H_0 . Completely different behaviour is found in the context of the demixing phase transitions, where the corresponding critical temperature is found to decrease with H_0 . This sensitivity suggests that external magnetic fields can indeed be efficiently used to control the mixture's phase behaviour over a large temperature interval.

8. Summary and perspectives

To summarize, we have demonstrated that fluids interacting by long-ranged, directiondependent dipolar interactions are strongly affected even by the most simple perturbations which do not couple directly to the dipole moments. Key examples are insulating walls or purely repulsive, disordered confining media: Both *promote* the tendency of dense dipolar fluids to develop orientational ordering (although the reasons in the two cases are quite different).

The theoretical progress in treating perturbed dipolar fluids on the basis of methods previously established for bulk systems is substantial. In this topical review we have discussed several approaches such as replica-integral equations for dipolar fluids in the presence of disordered confinement and positional quenched disorder. Both types of disorder have a significant influence on phase transition temperatures, and can give rise to interesting structural phenomena such as local freezing of the dipole axes in systems with positional disorder. From a technical point of view, it appears that replica-integral equations yield reasonable results at small degrees of perturbation but become inconsistent (or numerically too complex to solve) under strongly coupled conditions. As a result, several important questions such as the nature of the disordered (possibly glassy) low-temperature ferroelectric states remain to be answered. An additional problem is the lack of simulation results for strongly coupled, disordered dipolar systems to test the theoretical predictions.

We have also discussed recent integral equation methods to investigate dipolar fluids with field-induced or spontaneous orientational order. First applications have focused on quite dense dipolar fluids. The increasing interest in ferrocolloids may stimulate further studies of more dilute systems, for which a large number of experimental and simulation data concerning the field-induced magnetization, susceptibility, and the anisotropic structure factor already exist. Given a positive evaluation, integral equation methods for ordered dipolar fluids could be established as an accurate, and computationally less expensive alternative to computer simulations, similar to the role of conventional integral equations for the investigation of bulk dipolar fluids.

Finally, there are many open questions concerning the behaviour of confined dipolar fluid *films*. Indeed, only recently efficient techniques to handle the long-range interactions in computer simulations of dipolar films have been developed [42]. As a consequence, the overall phase behaviour of dipolar fluid films is at present unclear. The investigations discussed in this review may provide the basis for further studies concerning the influence of boundary conditions, and in particular the impact of dielectric or conducting versus the nonconducting walls considered in section 3.1. Indeed, conducting walls are most important in experimental situations such as AFM experiments involving polar solvents, and in biological contexts [230, 231]. Moreover, in many of these situations, the polar fluid is subject to an additional external field, the influence of which has so far only been studied for very specific systems. Another open question concerns the structure, both in the ground state and at non-zero temperatures, of dense dipolar systems at very small wall separations. This topic is relevant not only from a fundamental point of view, but also in the context of the search for novel magnetic crystals [32, 127]. Another problem receiving growing interest is the behaviour of planar or near-to-two-dimensional magnetic and electric systems with *field*induced dipoles [33, 38, 232].

In conclusion, the statistical mechanics of dipolar model fluids under external perturbations raises many interesting questions, the solution of which is important not only from a fundamental point of view, but also for future applications of these fascinating fluids. In the present topical review we have focused on *equilibrium* problems and on systems with permanent dipoles. One may expect, however, that the results and tools developed within this context will serve a basis for future, more general investigations including dynamic properties and non-equilibrium phenomena such as shear-flow or transport through complex geometries.

Acknowledgments

I am grateful to all my collaborators who participated in various aspects of this work. In particular I thank Gren N Patey, M Schoen, Carsten Spöler, Gabriel M Range and F Forstmann. I also thank S Hess and H Löwen for stimulating discussions. Financial support from the Deutsche Forschungsgemeinschaft via the Emmy–Noether Programme is gratefully acknowledged.

References

- Dhont J K G, Gompper G and Richter D 2002 Soft Matter: Complex Materials on Mesoscopic Scales (Reihe Materie und Material vol 10) (Jülich: Schriften des Forschungszentrums Jülich)
- [2] Teixeira P I C, Tavares J M and da Gama M M T 2000 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 12 R411
- [3] Tao R and Sun J M 1991 Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 398
- [4] Tao R and Sun J M 1991 Phys. Rev. A 44 R6181
- [5] Gray C G and Gubbins K E 1984 Theory of Molecular Fluids vol 1 (London: Oxford University Press)
- [6] van Leeuwen M E, Smit B and Hendriks E M 1994 Mol. Phys. 82 382
- [7] van Leeuwen M E 1994 Fluid Phase Equilib. 99 1
- [8] de Gennes P G 1974 The Physics of Liquid Crystals (Oxford: Clarendon)
- [9] McGrother S C, Gil-Villegas A and Jackson G 1998 Mol. Phys. 95 657
- [10] Blums E, Cebers A and Maiorov M M 1997 Magnetic Fluids (Berlin: de Gruyter)
- [11] Odenbach S 2002 Ferrofluids—Magnetically Controllable Fluids and their Applications (Springer Lecture Notes in Physics vol 594) (Berlin: Springer)
- [12] Rosensweig R E 1985 Ferrohydrodynamics (New York: Cambridge University Press)
- [13] Hess S 2000 Advances in the Computer Simulation of Liquid Crystals ed P Parisi and C Zannoni (Dordrecht: Kluwer)
- [14] Erne B H, Butter K, Kuipers B W M and Vroege G J 2003 Langmuir 19 8218
- [15] Zahn K, Mendez-Alcaraz J M and Maret G 1997 Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 175
- [16] Zahn K, Mendez-Alcaraz J M and Maret G 1999 Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 2721
- [17] Zahn K and Maret G 2000 Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 3656
- [18] Nielaba P, Binder K, Chaudhuri D, Franzrahe K, Henseler P, Lohrer M, Ricci A, Sengupta S and Strepp W 2004 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 16 S4115
- [19] Liu J, Lawrence E M, Wu A, Ivey M L, Flores G A, Javier K, Bibette J and Richard J 1995 Phys. Rev. Lett. 74 2828
- [20] Ivey M, Liu J, Zhu Y and Cutillas S 2000 Phys. Rev. E 63 011403
- [21] Halsey T C 1992 *Electrorheological Fluids* ed R Tao (Singapore: World Scientific)
- [22] Yethiraj A, Wouterse A, Groh B and van Blaaderen A 2004 Phys. Rev. Lett. 92 058301
- [23] Dassanayake U, Fraden S and van Blaaderen A 2000 J. Chem. Phys. 112 3851
- [24] Carrillo J L, Donado F and Mendoza M E 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 061509
- [25] Kroeger M, Ilg P and Hess S 2003 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 15 S1403
- [26] Furst E M and Gast A P 1999 Phys. Rev. Lett. 82 4130
- [27] Furst E M and Gast A P 2000 Phys. Rev. E 61 6732
- [28] Biswal S L and Gast A P 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 021402
- [29] Kun F, Wen W, Pal K F and Tun K N 2003 Phys. Rev. E 64 061503
- [30] Cebers A and Javaitis I 2004 Phys. Rev. E 69 021404
- [31] Golosovsky M, Sadoo Y and Davidov D 1999 Appl. Phys. Lett. 75 4168
- [32] Petit C, Legrand J, Russier V and Mileni M P 2002 J. Appl. Phys. 91 1502
- [33] Froltsov V A, Blaak R, Likos C N and Löwen H 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 061403
- [34] Lumsdon S O, Kaler E W and Velev O D 2004 Langmuir 20 2108

- [35] Hermanson K D, Lumsdon S O, Williams J P, Kaler E W and Velev O D 2001 Science 294 1082
- [36] Lumsdon S O, Williams J P, Kaler E W and Velev O D 2003 Appl. Phys. Lett. 82 949
- [37] Bhatt K H and Velev O D 2004 Langmuir 20 467
- [38] Löwen H 2001 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 13 R415
- [39] Martin J E, Anderson R A and Tigges C P 1999 J. Chem. Phys. 110 4854
- [40] Martin J E, Anderson R A and Williamson R L 2003 J. Chem. Phys. 118 1557
- [41] Ukai T and Maekawa T 2004 Phys. Rev. E 69 032501
- [42] Weis J-J 2003 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 15 S1471
- [43] Huke B and Lücke M 2004 Rep. Prog. Phys. 67 1731
- [44] van Leeuwen M E and Smit B 1993 Phys. Rev. Lett. 71 3991
- [45] Weis J-J and Levesque D 1993 Phys. Rev. Lett. 71 2729
- [46] Camp P J, Shelley J C and Patey G N 2000 Phys. Rev. Lett. 84 115
- [47] Tavares J M, Weis J-J and da Gama M M T 1999 *Phys. Rev.* E **59** 4388
- [48] Weis J-J, Levesque D and Zarragoicoechea G J 1992 *Phys. Rev. Lett.* 69 913
 [49] Weis J-J and Levesque D 1993 *Phys. Rev.* E 48 3728
- [49] Weis J-J and Devesque D 1993 Phys. Rev. E 40 5726
 [50] Levesque D and Weis J-J 1994 Phys. Rev. E 49 5131
- [51] Wei D and Patey G N 1992 *Phys. Rev. Lett.* **68** 2043
- [52] Wei D and Patey G N 1992 *Phys. Rev.* A **46** 7783
- [52] Wei D and Facey G N 1992 Phys. Rev. R 40 (1992)[53] Wei D, Patey G N and Perera A 1993 Phys. Rev. E 47 506
- [54] Klapp S and Forstmann F 1997 J. Chem. Phys. **106** 9742
- [55] Groh B and Dietrich S 1997 *Phys. Rev.* E **55** 2892
- [56] de Gennes P G and Pincus P A 1970 Phys. Konden. Mater. 11 189
- [57] Stevens M J and Grest G S 1994 Phys. Rev. Lett. 72 3686
- [58] Tavares J M, da Gama M M T and Osipov M A 1997 Phys. Rev. E 56 R6252
- [59] Sear R P 1996 Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 2310
- [60] Osipov M A, Teixeira P I C and da Gama M M T 1996 Phys. Rev. E 54 2597
- [61] da Gama M M T and Tavares J M 2000 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 12 A471
- [62] Levin Y 1999 Phys. Rev. Lett. 83 1159
- [63] van Roij R 1996 Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 3348
- [64] Tlusty T and Safran S 2000 Science 290 1328
- [65] Murashov V V, Camp P J and Patey G N 2002 J. Chem. Phys. 116 6731
- [66] Mamiya H, Nakatani I and Furubayashi T 2000 Phys. Rev. Lett. 84 6106
- [67] Butter K, Bomans P H H, Frederik P M, Vroege G J and Philipse A P 2003 Nat. Mater. 2 88
- [68] Butter K, Bomans P H H, Frederik P M, Vroege G J and Philipse A P 2003 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 15 S1451
- [69] Zhang H and Widom M 1994 Phys. Rev. E 49 3591
- [70] Groh B and Dietrich S 1994 Phys. Rev. Lett. 72 2422
- [71] Groh B and Dietrich S 1994 Phys. Rev. E 50 3814
- [72] Groh B and Dietrich S 1997 Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 749
- [73] Groh B and Dietrich S 1998 Phys. Rev. E 57 4535
- [74] Fröhlich H 1950 Theory of Dielectrics (Oxford: Oxford University Press)
- [75] Ayton G, Gingras M J P and Patey G N 1995 Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 2360
- [76] Ayton G, Gingras M J P and Patey G N 1997 Phys. Rev. E 56 562
- [77] Gao G T and Zeng X C 2000 Phys. Rev. E 61 R2188
- [78] Hansen J P and McDonald I R 1986 Theory of Simple Liquids (London: Academic)
- [79] Ornstein L S and Zernike F 1914 Proc. Acad. Sci. (Amsterdam) 17 793
- [80] Lado F 1964 Phys. Rev. 135 1013
- [81] Lado F 1976 Mol. Phys. 31 1117
- [82] Fries P H and Patey G N 1985 J. Chem. Phys. 82 429
- [83] Ivanov A O 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 011503
- [84] Morozov K I 2003 J. Chem. Phys. 119 13024
- [85] Cabuil V 2000 Curr. Opin. Colloid Interface Sci. 5 44
- [86] Cousin F, Dubois E and Cabuil V 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 021405
- [87] Neumann M, Steinhauser O and Pawley G S 1984 Mol. Phys. 52 97
- [88] Gelb L D, Gubbins K E, Radhakrishnan R and Sliwinska-Bartkowiak M 1999 Rep. Prog. Phys. 62 1573
- [89] Schoen M 2000 Computational Methods in Surface and Colloid Science ed M Borowko (New York: Dekker)
- [90] Pfohl T, Mugele F, Seemann R and Herminghaus S 2003 Chem. Phys. Chem. 4 1291
- [91] Han J and Craighead H G 2000 Science 288 1026

- [92] Klein J and Kumacheva E 1995 Science 269 816
- [93] Kumacheva E and Klein J 1998 J. Chem. Phys. 108 7010
- [94] Israelachvili J and McGuiggan P M 1988 Science 241 795
- [95] Blum L and Henderson D 1992 Fundamentals of Inhomogeneous Fluids ed D Henderson (New York: Dekker)
- [96] Evans R 1999 New Approaches to Problems in Liquid State Theory—Inhomogeneities and Phase Separation (Complex and Quantum Fluids: Proc. NATO ASI Series C vol 529) ed C Caccamo, J-P Hansen and G Stell (Dordrecht: Kluwer)
- [97] Israelachvili J 1992 Intermolecular and Surface Forces 2nd edn (London: Academic)
- [98] Levesque D and Weis J-J 1985 J. Stat. Phys. 40 29
- [99] Torrie G M, Perera A and Patey G N 1989 Mol. Phys. 67 1337
- [100] Berard D R, Kinoshita M, Ye X and Patey G N 1994 J. Chem. Phys. 101 6271
- [101] Patra C N and Gosh S K 1997 J. Chem. Phys. 106 2752
- [102] Lee S H, Rasaiah J C and Hubbard J B 1986 J. Chem. Phys. 85 5232
- [103] Lee S H, Rasaiah J C and Hubbard J B 1987 J. Chem. Phys. 86 2383
- [104] Senapati S and Chandra A 2000 J. Chem. Phys. 112 10467
- [105] Senapati S and Chandra A 2000 Phys. Rev. E 62 1017
- [106] Diaz-Herrera E and Forstmann F 1995 J. Chem. Phys. 102 9005
- [107] Das D, Senapati S and Chandra A 1999 J. Chem. Phys. 110 8129
- [108] Gwozdz E, Pasterny K and Brodka A 2001 Chem. Phys. Lett. 329 106
- [109] Jin W and Wang W 2001 J. Chem. Phys. 114 10163
- [110] de Leeuw S W, Perram J W and Smith E R 1980 Proc. R. Soc. A 373 27 de Leeuw S W, Perram J W and Smith E R 1980 Proc. R. Soc. A 373 57
- [111] Allen M P and Tildesley D J 1987 Computer Simulation of Liquids (London: Academic)
- [112] Gulley G L and Tao R 1997 Phys. Rev. E 56 4328
- [113] Wen W, Zhang L and Sheng P 2000 Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 5464
- [114] MacIsaac A B, Whitehead J P, De'Bell K and Poole P H 1996 Phys. Rev. Lett. 77 739
- [115] MacIsaac A B, De'Bell K and Whitehead J P 1998 Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 616
- [116] Weis J-J 1998 Mol. Phys. 93 361
- [117] Lomba E, Lado F and Weis J-J 2000 Phys. Rev. E 61 3838
- [118] Weis J-J 2002 Mol. Phys. 100 579
- [119] Weis J-J, Tavares J M and da Gama M M T 2002 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 14 9171
- [120] Tavares J M, Weis J-J and da Gama M M T 2002 Phys. Rev. E 65 061201
- [121] Duncan P D and Camp P J 2004 J. Chem. Phys. **121** 11322
- [122] Gao G T, Zeng X C and Wang W 1997 J. Chem. Phys. 106 3311
- [123] Klapp S H L and Schoen M 2002 J. Chem. Phys. 117 8050
- [124] Klapp S H L and Schoen M 2004 J. Mol. Liq. 109 55
- [125] De'Bell K, MacIsaac A B, Booth I N and Whitehead J P 1997 Phys. Rev. B 55 15108
- [126] Zimmermann G O, Ibrahim A K and Wu F Y 1988 Phys. Rev. B 37 2059
- [127] Russier V 2001 J. Appl. Phys. 89 1287
- [128] Ruthven D M 1984 Principles of Adsorption and Adsorption Processes (New York: Wiley)
- [129] Pierre A C and Panjok G M 2002 Chem. Rev. 102 4243
- [130] Given J A 1992 Phys. Rev. A 45 816
- [131] Given J A and Stell G 1992 J. Chem. Phys. 97 4573
- [132] Given J A and Stell G 1994 Physica A 209 495
- [133] Rosinberg M L 1999 New Approaches to Problems in Liquid State Theory—Inhomogeneities and Phase Separation (Complex and Quantum Fluids: Proc. NATO ASI series C vol 529) ed C Caccamo, J-P Hansen and G Stell (Dordrecht: Kluwer)
- [134] Pizio O 2000 Computational Methods in Colloid and Interface Science ed M Borowsko (New York: Dekker)
- [135] Holovko M F and Polishchuk Z V 1999 Cond. Matter Phys. 2 267
- [136] Kovalenko A and Hirata F 2001 J. Chem. Phys. 115 8620
- [137] Fernaud M, Lomba E, Weis J-J and Levesque D 2003 Mol. Phys. 101 1721
- [138] Fernaud M, Lomba E, Martin C, Levesque D and Weis J-J 2003 J. Chem. Phys. 119 364
- [139] Spöler C and Klapp S H L 2003 J. Chem. Phys. 118 3628
- [140] Spöler C and Klapp S H L 2004 J. Chem. Phys. 120 6734
- [141] Spöler C and Klapp S H L 2004 J. Chem. Phys. 121 9623
- [142] Binder K and Young A P 1986 Rev. Mod. Phys. 58 801
- [143] Fernaud M. Lomba E and Weis J-J 2001 Phys. Rev. E 64 051501
- [144] Wong A P Y and Chan M H W 1990 Phys. Rev. Lett. 65 2567

- [145] Wong A P Y, Kim S B, Goldburg W I and Chan M H W 1993 Phys. Rev. Lett. 70 954
- [146] Kierlik E, Rosinberg M L, Tarjus G and Monson P A 1997 J. Chem. Phys. 106 264
- [147] Kierlik E, Rosinberg M L, Tarjus G and Monson P A 1999 J. Chem. Phys. 110 689
- [148] Bellini T, Buscaglia M, Chiccoli C, Mantegazza F, Pasini P and Zannoni C 2002 Phys. Rev. Lett. 88 245506
- [149] Clegg P S, Stock C, Birgeneau R J, Garland C W, Roshi A and Iannacchione G S 2003 Phys. Rev. E 67 021703
- [150] Radzihovsky L and Toner J 1997 Phys. Rev. Lett. 79 4214
- [151] Feldman D E 2000 Phys. Rev. Lett. 84 4886
- [152] Bellini T, Buscaglia M, Chiccoli C, Mantegazza F, Pasini P and Zannoni C 2000 Phys. Rev. Lett. 85 1008
- [153] Höchli U T and Maglione M 1989 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 1 2241
- [154] Vugmeister B E and Glinchuk M D 1990 Rev. Mod. Phys. 62 993
- [155] Reich D H, Ellman B, Yang J, Rosenbaum T F, Aeppli G and Belanger D P 1990 Phys. Rev. B 42 4631
- [156] Rosenbaum T F, Wu W, Ellman B, Yang J, Aeppli G and Reich D H 1991 J. Appl. Phys. 70 5946
- [157] Jonsson T, Mattsson J, Djurberg C, Khan F A, Nordblad P and Svedlindh P 1995 Phys. Rev. Lett. 75 4138
- [158] Garcia-Otero J, Porto M, Rivas J and Bunde A 2000 Phys. Rev. Lett. 84 167
- [159] Luo W, Nagel S R, Rosenbaum T F and Rosensweig R E 1991 Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 2721
- [160] Rosenbaum T F, Shi X D and Nagel S R 1995 J. Phys. Chem. 99 2875
- [161] Jonsson T, Svedlindh P and Hansen M F 1998 Phys. Rev. Lett. 81 3976
- [162] Mamiya H, Nakatani I and Furubayashi T 1998 Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 177
- [163] Zaluska-Kotur M A and Cieplak M 1993 Europhys. Lett. 23 85
- [164] Zaluska-Kotur M A and Cieplak M 1994 J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 136 127
- [165] Zaluska-Kotur M A and Høye J S 1996 J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 161 111
- [166] Mertens B, Levin K and Grest G S 1994 Phys. Rev. B 49 15374
- [167] Ravichandran S and Bagchi B 1996 Phys. Rev. Lett. 76 644
- [168] Zhang H and Widom M 1995 Phys. Rev. B **51** 8951
- [169] Klapp S H L and Patey G N 2001 J. Chem. Phys. 115 4718
- [170] Lomba E, Martin C and Almarza N G 2003 Mol. Phys. 101 1667
- [171] Lomba E, Martin C and Almarza N G 2003 Eur. Phys. J. B 34 473
- [172] Buyevich Y A and Ivanov A O 1992 Physica A 190 276
- [173] Huke B and Lücke M 2000 Phys. Rev. E 62 6875
- [174] Huke B and Lücke M 2003 Phys. Rev. E 67 051404
- [175] Ivanov A O and Kuznetsova O B 2001 Phys. Rev. E 64 041405
- [176] Stevens M J and Grest G S 1995 Phys. Rev. E **51** 5962
- [177] Wang Z, Holm C and Müller H W 2002 Phys. Rev. E 66 021405
- [178] Anthore R, Pepitas C, Chandresris D and Martinet A 1977 J. Physique Coll. 38 C2 203
- [179] Cebula D J, Charles S W and Popplewell J 1981 Colloid Polym. Sci. 259 395
- [180] Jennings B R, Xu M and Ridler P J 2000 Proc. R. Soc. A 456 891
- [181] Gazeau F, Dubois E, Bacri J C, Boue F, Cebers A and Perzynski P 2002 Phys. Rev. E 65 031403
- [182] Kruse T, Spanoudaki A and Pelster A 2003 Phys. Rev. B 68 054208
- [183] Meriguet G, Jardat M and Turq P 2004 J. Chem. Phys. 121 6078
- [184] Stevens M J and Grest G S 1995 Phys. Rev. E 51 5976
- [185] Massart R, Dubois E, Cabuil V and Hasmonay E 1995 J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 149 1
- [186] Mamiya H and Nakatani I 1999 IEEE Trans. Magn. 35 4061
- [187] Hayter J B and Pynn R 1982 Phys. Rev. Lett. 49 1103
- [188] Hess S, Hayter J B and Pynn R 1984 Mol. Phys. 53 1527
- [189] Caillol J M, Weis J-J and Patey G N 1988 Phys. Rev. A 38 4772
- [190] Klapp S H L and Forstmann F 1999 Phys. Rev. E 60 3183
- [191] Lado F and Lomba E 1998 Phys. Rev. Lett. 80 3535
- [192] Lado F, Lomba E and Weis J-J 1998 Phys. Rev. E 58 3478
- [193] Sokolovska T G 1998 Physica A 253 459
- [194] Perera A 1999 *Phys. Rev.* E **60** 2912
- [195] Klapp S H L and Patey G N 2000 J. Chem. Phys. 112 3832
- [196] Paci I and Cann N M 2003 J. Chem. Phys. 119 2638
- [197] Lovett R, Mou C Y and Buff F P 1976 J. Chem. Phys. 65 570
- [198] Wertheim M S 1976 J. Chem. Phys. 65 2377
- [199] Klapp S H L and Patey G N 2000 J. Chem. Phys. 112 10949
- [200] Klapp S and Forstmann F 1997 Europhys. Lett. 38 663
- [201] Klapp S and Forstmann F 1998 J. Chem. Phys. 109 1062
- [202] Costa Cabral B J 2000 J. Chem. Phys. 112 4351

- R550
- [203] Kristof T and Szalai I 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 041109
- [204] Wang Z and Holm C 2003 Phys. Rev. E 68 041401
- [205] Adelman S A and Deutch J M 1973 J. Chem. Phys. 59 3971
- [206] Freasier B, Hamer N and Isbister D 1979 Mol. Phys. 38 1661
- [207] Cummings P T and Blum L 1986 J. Chem. Phys. 85 6658
- [208] Lee P H and Ladanyi B M 1989 J. Chem. Phys. 87 4093
- [209] Bacri J C, Perzynski R, Salin D, Cabuil V and Massart R 1990 J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 85 27
- [210] Kristof T, Liszi J and Szalai I 2004 Phys. Rev. E 69 062106
- [211] Morillo M, Denk C, Sanchez-Burgos F and Sanchez A 2000 J. Chem. Phys. 113 2360
- [212] Valisko M, Boda D, Liszi J and Szalai I 2001 Phys. Chem. Chem. Phys. 3 2995
- [213] Matyushov D V and Ladanyi B M 1999 J. Chem. Phys. 110 994
- [214] Gao G T, Wollert J B, Zeng X C and Wang W 1997 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 9 3349
- [215] Gao G T, Wang W C and Zeng X C 1999 Fluid Phase Equilib. 160 69
- [216] Range G M and Klapp S H L 2004 Phys. Rev. E 69 041201
- [217] Range G M and Klapp S H L 2004 Phys. Rev. E 70 031201
- [218] Range G M and Klapp S H L 2004 Phys. Rev. E 70 061407
- [219] Range G M and Klapp S H L 2005 Phys. Rev. E submitted
- [220] Ivanov A O 1996 J. Magn. Magn. Mater. 154 66
- [221] Russier V 1995 J. Colloid Interface Sci. 174 166
- [222] Frodl P and Dietrich S 1992 Phys. Rev. A 45 7330
- [223] Lomba E, Weis J-J, Almarza N G, Bresme F and Stell G 1994 Phys. Rev. E 49 5169
- [224] Carnahan N F and Starling K E 1969 J. Chem. Phys. 51 635
- [225] Boublik T 1970 J. Chem. Phys. 53 471
- [226] Mansoori G A, Carnahan N F, Starling K E and Leeland T W 1982 J. Chem. Phys. 77 3741
- [227] Chen X S, Kasch M and Forstmann F 1991 Phys. Rev. Lett. 67 2674
- [228] Chen X S and Forstmann F 1992 Mol. Phys. 76 1203
- [229] Blair M J and Patey G N 1998 Phys. Rev. E 57 5682
- [230] Attard P and Patey G N 1991 Phys. Rev. A 43 2953
- [231] von Grünberg H H and Mbambala E C 2000 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 12 10349
- [232] Froltsov V A, Likos C N and Löwen H 2004 J. Phys.: Condens. Matter 16 S4103